# FILED

## MAR 1 0 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III State of Washington By\_\_\_\_\_

NO. 319776-III

#### COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KAY L. PRUCZINSKI and RICKY BELL, Appellants,

v.

ALLEN ASHBY, Respondent.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Douglas D. Phelps (WSBA No. 22620) Jill N. Hogberg (WSBA No. 46786) Phelps & Associates, P.S. 2903 N. Stout Rd. Spokane Valley, WA 99206 Telephone: (509) 892-0467 Fax: (509) 921-0802 Attorneys for Petitioner

#

#### ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

s :2

- The trial court erred in granting Mr. Ashby's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction when it made said decision on choice of law grounds.
- The trial court erred in granting Mr. Ashby's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction.

#### **ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR**

- Did the Superior Court improperly dismiss Ms. Pruczinski's case for lack of personal jurisdiction, when the court's basis for doing so is that there exists a choice of law issue that would require application of Idaho law?
- 2. Did the Superior Court err in dismissing Ms. Pruczinksi's case for lack of personal jurisdiction where she made a prima facie showing that Mr. Ashby's intentional acts were expressly aimed at the forum state, caused harm in the forum state, and that traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice would not be offended by assumption of jurisdiction over Mr. Ashby?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On or about April 30, 2010, Mr. Allen Ashby, an Idaho State Trooper, followed Ms. Pruczinski, who was driving Ricky Bell's vehicle, over the Spokane River, and into the State of Washington. CP at 23-24. He followed Ms. Pruczinski as she exited the I-90 at exit 299, travelled onto Idaho Road (located entirely within the State of Washington), and proceeded to pull her over for minor traffic violations. *Id.* at 128. Upon Mr. Ashby's initial contact with her, Ms. Pruczinski became concerned regarding his demeanor, actions and intentions. *Id.* at 24. She requested that a female law enforcement officer be called to the scene. *Id.* at 128. Rather than comply with her request, Mr. Ashby demanded she get out of the vehicle. *See id.* When Ms. Pruczinski continued to beg for a female officer, Ms. Ashby became visibly aggressive and hostile.

Mr. Ashby then bashed in the driver's side window with his asp, spraying Ms. Pruczinski with broken glass in the process. *Id.* at 24. Amid Ms. Pruczinski's screams of terror, Ms. Ashby reached into the vehicle, and attempted to pull her out through the jagged, broken window. *Id.* He then finally used some measure of common sense, and unlocked the door and pulled her out of the vehicle. Mr. Ashby then "searched" Ms. Pruczinski several times, offensively running his hands up and down her body, all the while ignoring her pleas for a female officer, as well as her

tearful requests to stop. *Id.* at 25. After completing some on-scene investigation with back up officers, Mr. Ashby drove back across the border, taking Ms. Pruczinski to jail in the state of Idaho. *Id.* at 26.

On August 30, 2013, the Superior Court of Spokane County granted the defendant's motion to dismiss for lack of personal jurisdiction. VRP at 28.

#### ARGUMENT

#### **Standard of Review**

Challenges brought under CR 12(b)(1) and (2) represent challenges to the court's personal and subject matter jurisdiction over the case. *See* CR 12(b)(1),(2). Because this civil rule in Washington is substantially similar to its federal counterpart, this Court may look to interpretation of the federal rule for guidance. *Bryant v. Joseph Tree Inc.*, 119 Wn.2d 210, 218-19, 829 P.2d 1099 (1992). Under federal law, a trial court's rulings on subject matter and personal jurisdiction, when based on the pleadings and undisputed facts before it, are questions of law, reviewed de novo. *See Ortiz-Sandoval v. Gomez*, 81 F.3d 891, 894 (9th Cir. 1996).

Furthermore, while it is the plaintiff's duty to establish the existence of jurisdiction, only a prima facie showing of jurisdiction is required. *MBM Fisheries, Inc. v. Bollinger Machine Shop and Shipyard,* 

Inc., 60 Wn.App. 414, 418, 804 P.2d 627 (1991) (citing Pedersen
Fisheries, Inc. v. Patti Indus., Inc., 563 F.Supp. 72, 74 (W.D.Wash.1983).
For purposes of appeal, the allegations in the plaintiff's complaint must be accepted as correct. MBM Fisheries at 418, 804 P.2d 627 (citing Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines, 897 F.2d 377, 380 (9th Cir.1988) rev'd on other grounds, Carnival Cruise Lines v. Shute, 499 U.S. 585, 111 S.Ct. 1522, 113 L.Ed.2d 622 (1991)).

#### I. <u>The trial court's decision to dismiss for lack of personal</u> jurisdiction was erroneously decided on choice of law grounds

Jurisdiction and choice of law are two separate legal concepts, and involve separate analysis. *See generally Haberman v. Washington Public Power Supply System*, 109 Wn.2d 107,134, 744 P.2d 1032 (1987) (noting that issue before them was which state's law applied in a case involving out of state parties which the Washington court had jurisdiction over). It is axiomatic that a court may properly exercise personal jurisdiction over nonresidents, yet apply another state's law to the case, or specific issues within the case. *See id.* at 134, 744 P.2d 1032.

In the present case, however, the Superior Court conflated the two issues in making its ruling. Specifically the court stated that Mr. Ashby's actions "clearly [were] Washington state actions [,]" but dismissed the case for lack of personal jurisdiction because: the key element or one of the very key elements of the case would be whether or not this defendant—Trooper Ashby right now, not Mr. Ashby—was within the scope of his employment...because we do have a question of Idaho law...it would not be fair for Washington to exercise personal jurisdiction over this individual.

VRP at 27.

This ruling is erroneous, as the court ostensibly dismissed the case for lack of personal jurisdiction, but in fact dismissed the case based on choice of law grounds. *Id.* Furthermore, dismissing the case because there Idaho law applies to the question of Trooper Ashby's scope of employment is nonsensical. It would be far easier and less burdensome for a Washington court to review Idaho agency law and make a determination that Trooper Ashby was outside the scope of his employment (especially given his stipulation to the fact that the acts occurred in Washington), than it would be for Idaho to make the same threshold determination and then have to apply Washington tort law to the rest of the case.

#### II. Washington has personal jurisdiction over Mr. Ashby

Washington's long-arm statute extends specific personal jurisdiction over nonresident defendants "to the extent permitted by the due process clause of the United States Constitution", except where otherwise limited by the statute's own terms. *MBM Fisheries* at 423, 804 P.2d 627; RCW 4.28.185. The statute itself holds, in pertinent part, that nonresident defendants submit to personal jurisdiction in Washington when they commit "a tortious act within this state". *See* RCW
4.28.185(1)(b). "A tortious act occurs in Washington when the injury occurs within our state." *SeaHAVN, Ltd. v. Glitner Bank*, 154 Wn.App.
550, 569, 226 P.3d 141 (2010) (citing *Grange Ins. Ass'n v. State*, 110
Wash.2d 752, 757, 757 P.2d 933 (1988)). For purposes of RCW 4.28.185, an injury "occurs" in Washington, "if the last event necessary to make the defendant liable for the alleged tort occurred in Washington." *SeaHAVN* at 550 (citing *MBM Fisheries* at 425, 804 P.2d 627).

In addition to the tortious act, three factors must co-exist for specific personal jurisdiction to be proper under the long-arm statute:

> (1) The nonresident defendant or foreign corporation must purposefully do some act or consummate some transaction in the forum state; (2) the cause of action must arise from, or be connected with, such act or transaction; and (3) the assumption of jurisdiction by the forum state must not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, consideration being given to the quality, nature, and extent of the activity in the forum state, the relative convenience of the parties, the benefits and protection of the laws of the forum state afforded the respective parties, and the basic equities of the situation.

*Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines*, 113 Wn.2d 763, 767, 783 P.2d 78 (1989).

## A. <u>Mr. Ashby tortious acts rise to the level of "purposeful</u> <u>availment" because they were intentional, expressly</u> <u>aimed at Washington, and caused harm in Washington</u>

In the context of tort claims, the "purposeful availment analysis…permits the exercise of jurisdiction when the claimant makes a prima facie showing that an out-of-state party's intentional actions were expressly aimed at the forum state and caused harm in the forum state." *FutureSelect Portfolio Management, Inc. v. Tremont Group Holdings, Inc.*, 175 Wn.App. 840, 891, 309 P.3d 555 (2013). Washington case law does not define "intentional act" or "expressly aimed" in the context of personal jurisdiction analysis in a tort case. However, Ninth Circuit case law is particularly instructive on the issue, as the above rule in *FutureSelect* is adopted from the identical federal "effects" rule.<sup>1</sup>

Specifically, in *Schwarzenegger v. Martin*, the Court defined an "intentional act" as "an intent to perform an actual, physical act in the real world, rather than an intent to accomplish a result or consequence of that act." *Schwarzenegger v. Martin*, 374

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> "the 'effects' test requires that the defendant allegedly have (1) committed an intentional act, (2) expressly aimed at the forum state, (3) causing harm that the defendant knows is likely to be suffered in the forum state." *Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co.*, 374 F.3d 797 (9th Cir. 2004) (citing *Calder v. Jones*, 465 U.S. 783, 104 S.Ct. 1482, 79 L.Ed.2d 804 (1984)).

F.3d 797, 806 (9th Cir. 2004). The "expressly aimed" requirement is met where there has been an "individual targeting" of a forum resident or person with strong forum connections. *Fiore v. Walden*, 688 F.3d 558, 577 (9th Cir. 2011). Mere foreseeability of impact on individuals in the forum is insufficient; however, where the intended impact is "targeted at a known individual who has a substantial, ongoing connection to the forum," the "expressly aimed requirement is met." *See id.* at 577-78 (internal citations omitted).

The issue of harm caused is one for trial, and is not a subject of this appeal. However, for purposes of "purposeful availment" analysis, this Court must determine whether harm was caused in the forum. *See FutureSelect* at 891, 309 P.3d 555 (2013). Because the allegations in the plaintiff's complaint must be accepted as correct in a personal jurisdiction analysis, Ms. Pruczinski's allegations of harm occurring in Washington are sufficient. *See MBM Fisheries* at 418, 804 P.2d 627 (citing *Shute* at 380 (9th Cir.1988) *rev'd on other grounds*, *Carnival Cruise Lines v. Shute*, 499 U.S. 585, 111 S.Ct. 1522, 113 L.Ed.2d 622 (1991)).

#### i. Mr. Ashby's actions were intentional

It is undeniable from the allegations in the complaint that Mr. Ashby performed several intentional acts. He intentionally followed Ms. Pruczinski's car westbound on I-90 to Exit 299, located in Washington, and continued to follow her along Idaho Road, also located in Washington. He intentionally stopped her vehicle, approached, and seized her person. He intentionally demanded her exit from the car, ignored her requests for a female officer, and alarmingly, within 90 seconds of coming up to Ms. Pruczinski's window, intentionally smashed in her driver's side window, spraying her with glass in the process. Immediately thereafter, he intentionally attempted to drag her out of the vehicle through the destroyed window, jagged with shattered glass. He then intentionally placed her under arrest (without authority of law), searched her person several times, and intentionally removed her back to the state of Idaho. All of Mr. Ashby's actions that night were intentional. Despite Mr. Ashby's highly suspect claim that he did not know that he was in Washington State, he cannot deny that he intended to and did perform "actual, physical acts in the real world." Schwarzenegger, 374 F.3d at 806.

## ii. <u>Mr. Ashby's intentional acts were expressly aimed</u> <u>at Washington</u>

The "expressly aimed" requirement of the analysis announced in *Calder* focuses on where the harm and injuries were felt. See generally Calder v. Jones, 465 U.S. 783, 104 S.Ct. 1482, 79 L.Ed.2d 804 (1984). In *Calder*, this requirement was met where defendants (Florida residents) prepared a libelous story from that locale about actress Shirley Jones, who lived and worked in California. See generally id. The defendant's sources were from California, and "impugned the professionalism of an entertainer whose television career was centered in California." Id. at 789, 104 S.Ct. 1482, 79 L.Ed.2d 804. The Court held that the defendants had expressly aimed their allegedly tortious conduct at California because the "brunt of the harm, in terms both of respondent's emotional distress and the injury to her professional reputation, was suffered in California[,]" and because they had made California "the focal point both of the story and of the harm suffered." Id.

In the instant case, the "brunt of the harm" perpetrated by Mr. Ashby against Ms. Pruczinski occurred in Washington. *Id.* Indeed, all contact between the parties occurred in Washington, except for Ms. Pruczinski's transport to Idaho. It is clear that Mr. Ashby "expressly aimed" his intentional acts at Washington because he followed a vehicle into Washington State, where he had no jurisdiction, proceeded to stop and seize both Ms. Pruczinski and her vehicle, and assault her, as described above. The injuries thus occurred in Washington, and the "brunt of the harm" was clearly felt within Washington's borders. *Id*.

#### iii. <u>Mr. Ashby's intentional actions, expressly aimed at</u> <u>Washington, caused harm in Washington</u>

See explanation on the issue of harm supra at Part II-A.

## B. <u>Ms. Pruczinski's causes of action arise from Mr. Ashby's</u> <u>conduct in Washington</u>

The second prong of the *Shute* test requires "a nexus between the cause of action and the defendant's activities in the forum state." *SeaHAVN* at 570-71 (citing *Raymond v. Robinson*, 104 Wn.App. 627, 640, 15 P.3d 697 (2001)). "Washington courts use the 'but for' test to determine whether a cause of action against a nonresident defendant arises from, or is connected with, the defendant's acts in the forum state.

#### *SeaHAVN* at 571.

It is clear that the required connection exists between Ms. Pruczinski's causes of action and Mr. Ashby's actions in Washington. As previously stated, Ms. Pruczinksi's causes of action arise from the actions of Mr. Ashby which took place almost entirely within Washington.

#### C. <u>Washington's assumption of jurisdiction over Mr. Ashby would</u> not offend traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice

In determining whether the assumption of specific personal jurisdiction over a defendant violates traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, Washington courts "consider the quality, nature, and extent of the defendant's activity in Washington, the relative convenience of the plaintiff and the defendant in maintaining the action here, the benefits and protection of Washington's laws afforded the parties, and the basic equities of the situation." *CTVC of Hawaii, Co., Ltd. v. Shinawatra*, 82 Wn.App. 699, 721, 19 P.2d 1243 (1996).

## i. <u>The quality, nature, and extent of Mr. Ashby's activity in</u> <u>Washington weighs in favor of exercising personal</u> <u>jurisdiction over him</u>

In determining whether the quality, nature, and extent of a defendant's contacts with the forum state weigh in favor of exercising personal jurisdiction, it is the quality and nature which determine the sufficiency of such contacts—not some mechanical formula nor a counting-up of the number of acts which occurred. *See Perry v. Hamilton*, 51 Wn.App. 936, 940, 756 P.2d 150 (1988). "The focus should be on the relationship between the defendant, the forum, and the

litigation." *Id.* (citing *Keeton v. Hustler Magazine, Inc.,* 465 U.S. 770, 775, 104 S.Ct. 1473, 79 L.Ed.2d 790 (1984)).

In the present case, no cause of action would have arisen, no contact would have occurred, and no injury would have come to Ms. Pruczinski, had Mr. Ashby not followed her into Washington State, stopped and seized her person and vehicle without authority of law, bashed in her window, assaulted her, and falsely arrested her. The "relationship between the defendant, the forum, and the litigation" could not be stronger; Washington is the focal point, indeed the only point, of actionable contact between the parties. *See id*. Idaho has nothing to do with this litigation, regardless of the fact that Mr. Ashby is an employee of that state, and both parties are residents there. By acting entirely outside the scope of his authority and jurisdiction, Mr. Ashby ceased being an employee of Idaho for the purposes of this litigation. All harmful contact occurred in Washington, and the quality of that contact was egregious, heinous, and tortious in nature.

#### ii. <u>Mr. Ashby is not sufficiently burdened by litigating this</u> case in Washington to justify the Superior Court's decision to refuse to exercise jurisdiction over him

Weighing the relative convenience of the parties is clearly a factual determination. 'While inconvenience to the defendant is an important factor to be considered, there is no constitutional requirement that the

hardship of litigating in a distant state need always be borne by the plaintiff." *Nixon v. Cohn*, 62 Wn.2d 987, 998, 385 P.2d 305 (1963) (internal citations omitted). In the present case, neither Ms. Pruczinski nor Mr. Ashby would be required to litigate in a "distant state". Both of them live in Idaho, but near the Washington border, and both have obviously had success in obtaining Washington counsel, and litigating this action up to this point has not presented great difficulty. There has been no argument by Ms. Ashby that litigating in Washington would present great difficulty—simply that Idaho would be a more fair forum given the question of law regarding Mr. Ashby's scope of employment. Not only is this contention false, but it has no bearing on whether or not Washington would be an inconvenient forum.

### iii. <u>Ms. Pruczinski and Mr. Bell are entitled to the benefits and</u> protections of the laws of the State of Washington and the basic equities of the situation require that Washington assume jurisdiction

"The Fourth Amendment and Article I, Section 7 of the Washington State Constitution require a police officer to act under lawful authority." *State v. Plaggemeier*, 93 Wn.App. 472, 476, 969 P.2d 519 (1999) (citing *City of Wenatchee v. Durham*, 43 Wash.App. 547, 549-50, 718 P.2d 819 (1986)). "An arrest made beyond an arresting officer's jurisdiction is equivalent to an arrest without probable cause."

*Plaggemeier* at 476, 969 P.2d 519.

Here, Ms. Pruczinski is entitled to the protections of Article 1, section 7 of the Washington State constitution, which require that a police officer must act with lawful authority in order to search, seize, or arrest an individual in Washington. *See id.* Mr. Ashby had no such authority when he left the boundaries of Idaho, and committed several tortious acts against Ms. Pruczinski and Mr. Bell.

Furthermore, the State of Washington has an interest in protecting individuals, both residents and nonresidents alike, from, among other things, invasions of privacy occurring within the state. Otherwise, Washington's constitutional protections under Article 1, section 7, which holds that "no person shall be disturbed in his private affairs, or his home invaded, without authority of law", becomes nothing more than an empty promise—a shadow of the once great protection afforded to any "person" within Washington state. Const.art.1 §7. This Court should absolutely not endorse the message that out-of-state police may come into Washington State, hunt down a person merely traveling along Washington's roads, stop them, seize them, assault them, inflict emotion distress, damage their property, and unlawfully arrest them, all with no consequences under Washington law.

## **CONCLUSION**

Based on the above, Ms. Pruczinski and Mr. Bell respectfully request that this Court reverse the decision of the Superior Court below, and remand for trial.