NO. 319776

MAY 0 6 2014

COURT OF APPEALS DIVISION III STATE OF WASHINGTON By

COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION III OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

KAY L. PRUCZINSKI, a single person, and RICKY BELL, a single person,

Appellants,

v.

ALLEN ASHBY and JENNIFER ASHBY, husband and wife, and the marital community comprised thereof,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

PETER J. JOHNSON, WSBA # 6195 Johnson Law Group, P.S. 103 E. Indiana, Suite A Spokane, WA 99207-2317 (509) 835-5000

Attorney for Respondent

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

said that there must be "something more," but have not spelled out what that something more must be. ...

We now conclude that "something more" is what the Supreme Court described as "express aiming" at the forum state. See Calder, 465 U.S. at 789. Express aiming is a concept that in the jurisdictional context hardly defines itself. From the available cases, we deduce that the requirement is satisfied when the defendant is alleged to have engaged in wrongful conduct targeted at a plaintiff whom the defendant knows to be a resident of the forum state. . . .

Subsequent cases from this circuit bear out the conclusion that "express aiming" encompasses wrongful conduct individually targeting a known forum resident....

The presence of individualized targeting is what separates these cases from others in which we have found the effects test unsatisfied.

Bancroft & Masters, Inc., 223 F.3d at 1086 (emphasis added).8

We take this opportunity to clarify our law and to state that the "brunt" of the harm need not be suffered in the forum state. If a jurisdictionally sufficient amount of harm is suffered in the forum state, it does not matter that even more harm might have been suffered in another state.

⁸ *Yahoo! Inc.*, 433 F.3d at 1206-1207, in overruling *Bancroft* in part held that:

The concurring opinion in *Yahoo!* is instructive in its discussion of express aiming:

An intentional act aimed exclusively at a location other than the forum state, which results in harm to a plaintiff in the forum state, does not satisfy the "express aiming" requirement under Calder. In Schwarzenegger v. Fred Martin Motor Co., 374 F.3d 797, 799 (9th Cir. 2004), an Ohio car dealer ran an advertisement in the Akron Beacon Journal that featured Arnold Schwarzenegger as "the terminator" without first seeking Schwarzenegger's permission. We held that the advertisement, though it wrongfully depicted Schwarzenegger, a California resident, "was expressly aimed at Ohio rather than California." Id. at 807. Because the dealer's "express aim was local," the district court lacked jurisdiction to hear Schwarzenegger's complaint.

Yahoo! Inc., 433 F.3d at 1224-1225 (concurring opinion) (emphasis added).

Ashby was on patrol in Idaho on Idaho roads to ensure the safety of travelers in Idaho and to enforce Idaho laws. There was nothing before the Superior Court that evidences Ashby was targeting Washington or its residents. Ashby, an Idaho State Police trooper, was investigating an Idaho driver whom he observed violating Idaho traffic laws on Idaho roads. He stopped the Idaho car on what he thought was an Idaho road. Even if the stop ultimately occurred in Washington, the requirement that Ashby's conduct must be expressly aimed at Washington or its residents is not met under these facts.

b. Pruczinski Alleges Ashby's Purposeful Contact with Washington Caused Her Injury.

The second prong of the specific personal jurisdiction test asks whether the claim arises out of or results from the defendants' forum-related activities. *Mattel, Inc.*, 354 F.3d at 864. Soley and only for purposes of Ashby's CR 12(b)(2) motion to dismiss, Pruczinski's allegation that she suffered damages caused by Ashby's conduct is to be treated in a light most favorable to her. However, this alone does not satisfy the second prong of the test. Although Pruczinksi alleges she suffered some injury as a result of the contact between her and Trooper Ashby, she fails to establish that her claim arose from a purposeful act by Ashby expressly aimed at Washington or its residents.

c. Exercising Personal Jurisdiction Over Ashby Violates the Fundamental Notions of Fairness and Substantial Justice.

The third criteria of the test, whether the assumption of jurisdiction by the forum state offends traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice, analyzes a number of factors. In that regard, courts consider: (1) the quality, nature, and extent of the activity in the forum state; (2) the relative convenience of the parties; (3) the benefits and protection of the laws of the forum state afforded the respective parties; and (4) the basic equities of the

situation. *Shute v. Carnival Cruise Lines*, 113 Wn.2d 763, 767, 783 P.2d 78 (1989). The federal version of the "fair play and substantial justice" factor is that the exercise of jurisdiction in the forum state must be reasonable. *Zepeda v. Pace Int'l Research, Inc.*, 670 F. Supp. 1509, 1511 (W.D. Wash. 1987). The Ninth Circuit considers seven factors in determining reasonableness:

(1) the extent of the defendants' purposeful interjection into the forum state's affairs; (2) the burden on the defendant of defending in the forum; (3) the extent of conflict with the sovereignty of the defendants' state; (4) the forum state's interest in adjudicating the dispute; (5) the most efficient judicial resolution of the controversy; (6) the importance of the forum to the plaintiff's interest in convenient and effective relief; and (7) the existence of an alternative forum.

Mattel, Inc., 354 F.3d at 862. No one factor is dispositive; rather, a court balances all seven. *Id.* These factors are significant in the present case and merit consideration by this Court.

(1) The extent of the Ashby's purposeful interjection into the forum state's affairs.

This factor is analogous to the *Shute* element of "quality, nature, and extent" of the activity. The "purposeful interjection" factor weighs in favor of Ashby. The due process clause protects a defendant's right to receive fair warning that his actions might subject him to suit in a given jurisdiction. This safeguard allows him to structure his conduct with a degree of assurance as

to what will flow from his conduct. *Burger King*, 105 S. Ct. at 2181-82. If anything, Ashby's contact with Washington was unintentional and did not constitute a fair warning that he was subjecting himself to Washington jurisdiction. In summary:

- Ashby was on patrol on westbound I-90 in Idaho
- In an Idaho State Police patrol car
- When Ashby observed a car with Idaho license plates weaving on I-90 in Idaho;
- He took the first exit available west of Exit 2 in Idaho;
- He stopped Pruczinski in what he believed to be Idaho.

North Idaho Road is a road which travels through both Washington and Idaho on its route south of I-90. Ashby did not direct his actions at Washington or its residents. Rather, he was patrolling a Washington/Idaho border road which is, in part, in Idaho. As must be viewed in a light most favorable to Pruczinski on a CR 12(b)(2) motion, the stop occurred on the Washington side of the border road. However, this fact alone does not evidence that Ashby expressly aimed his actions at Washington or that he had fair warning that his conduct might subject him to personal jurisdiction in Washington.

(2) <u>The burden on Ashby of defending in the</u> forum.

This factor is analogous to the "convenience of the parties" element in *Shute*. The "burden in defending" factor weighs in favor of Ashby. In *Hansen v. Denkla*, 357 U.S. 235, 78 S. Ct. 1228, 2 L.Ed.2d 1283 (1958), the Court said:

... [R]estrictions are more than a guarantee of immunity from inconvenient or distant litigation. They are a consequence of territorial limitations on the power of the respective States. However minimal the burden of defending in a foreign tribunal, a defendant may not be called upon to do so unless he has had the "minimal contacts" with that State that are a prerequisite to its exercise of power of him.

Id. at 251 (emphasis added).

Ashby resides in Idaho and, although this suit was filed against him individually, it is in effect a suit against an agency of the State of Idaho – the Idaho State Police. Not only will Ashby be required to defend in this forum but his employer, the Idaho State Police, will be as well. Washington law is clear that an employee acts within the scope of employment when performing work assigned by the employer or engaging in a course of conduct subject to the employer's control. In *Melin-Schilling v. Imm*, 149 Wn. App. 588, 592, 205 P.3d 905 (2009), the Court held:

The ... test ... in place in Washington is ...:

...An employee is acting within the scope of [his employment] when [he] is performing services for which [he] has been [employed], or when [he] is doing anything which is reasonably incidental to [his employment]. The test is not necessarily whether this specific conduct was expressly authorized or forbidden by the employer[], but whether such conduct should have been fairly foreseen from the nature of the [employment] and the duties relating to it....

Id. at 592 (citations omitted).

Defending an action in Washington that consists wholly of Idaho parties and a number of witnesses is an unreasonable burden on Ashby.

(3) The extent of conflict with the sovereignty of Ashby's state.

The extent of conflict between the sovereignties, Washington and Idaho, weighs in Ashby's favor. Idaho has a strong interest in providing an effective means of redress for its residents under its statutes for actions against its state employees in the performance of their duties. Although Washington has an interest in protecting its citizens, that is not at issue in Pruczinki's lawsuit. This is a lawsuit filed by Idaho residents, in Washington, against an Idaho State employee regarding his alleged improper conduct while on duty as an Idaho State Police trooper. Washington has the thinnest of connections to this action – the fact that Pruczinski alleges the stop occurred on the Washington side of an Idaho-Washington border road.

Idaho has a substantially stronger interest in adjudicating this dispute between its residents, its police trooper and, through him, an Idaho state agency. Pruczinski's claims include allegations of a police trooper acting outside the scope of his duties as an officer with the Idaho State Police. While this is a question on the merits which is not at issue in this motion, it is a factor in assessing the interest of the State of Idaho in adjudicating this dispute. Idaho has enacted legislation expressly granting the District Courts of Idaho exclusive jurisdiction of all claims against its state agencies or its employees – Idaho Code § 6-914. Normally, a court should refrain from exercising jurisdiction when another state has expressed a substantially stronger sovereignty interest and that state's courts will take jurisdiction. *Raffaele v. Compagnie Generale Maritime, S.A.*, 707 F.2d 395, 398 (9th Cir. 1983); *see also Timberlane Lbr.*, 549 F.2d at 614.

(4) The forum state's interest in adjudicating the dispute.

The "forum's interest" factor weighs in favor of Ashby. The discussion of this factor is encompassed in the discussion above on the extent of conflict with the sovereignty of the State of Idaho.

(5) <u>The most efficient judicial resolution of the controversy.</u>

The "efficient resolution" factor focuses on the location of the evidence and witnesses. *Panavision*, 141 F.3d at 1323. The parties to the action reside in Idaho. Pruczinski's claims are against an Idaho State agency employee for the performance of his duties while on patrol as an Idaho State Police trooper. Many of the potential witnesses reside or are located in Idaho. The most efficient resolution of this controversy lies with Idaho.

As noted above, the interest of Washington in adjudicating this dispute between Idaho residents is much less than that of the State of Idaho. While Washington has an interest in protecting its citizens, that factor is not present here.

(6) The importance of the forum to Pruczinski's interest in convenient and effective relief.

The parties and potentially many of the witnesses reside in Idaho. The forum state chosen by Pruczinski, Washington, is convenient for no one in this action. Idaho was the most convenient place for Pruczinski to bring this action. By filing this action in Washington, Pruczinski seeks to avoid the conditions precedent to suit against the State of Idaho or its employees.

While this might be considered "efficient" from Pruczinski's point of view, it cannot be said to be reasonable.

(7) The existence of an alternative forum.

If a plaintiff wishes to argue the unavailability of an alternative forum as a factor increasing the reasonableness of jurisdiction in the forum, the plaintiff must carry the burden of going forward on this issue. This is in line with the plaintiff's general burden on jurisdictional issues. *See KVOS, Inc., v. Associated Press*, 299 U.S. 269, 278, 57 S. Ct. 197, 200, 81 L.Ed. 183 (1936); *Amba Marketing Systems, Inc. v. Jobar Int'l, Inc.*, 551 F.2d 784, 787 (9th Cir. 1977). Pruczinski is a resident of the State of Idaho and had access to the Idaho courts for her action against Ashby, a resident of Idaho and an Idaho state employee.

4. Washington Jurisdiction Over Ashby Violates His Rights to Due Process.

In assessing all the elements of due process which must be satisfied for Washington to exercise jurisdiction over Ashby, it is apparent that each factor weighs in favor of Ashby. The record demonstrates a compelling case that the exercise of specific personal jurisdiction in Washington would be unreasonable and that dismissal is warranted. *See Panavision*, 141 F.3d at 1324.

F. WASHINGTON SHOULD DECLINE JURISDICTION UNDER THE PRINCIPLES OF COMITY.

Comity allows a state to decline jurisdiction over another state. Such comity is properly exercised when the assumption of jurisdiction would not promote cooperative efforts between states. *Glover v. Alaska*, 142 Wn. App. 442, 447, 174 P.3d 1246 (2008).

Principles of comity allow states to decline jurisdiction over another state and its employees in order to promote friendly relations and a mutual desire to do justice. In *Williams v. State of Washington*, 76 Wn. App. 237, 885 P.2d 845 (1994), considerations of comity led the trial court to decline jurisdiction, relying upon *Fernandez v. Department of Hwys.*, 49 Wn. App. 28, 741 P.2d 1010 (1987).

In *Fernandez*, the court found that, although jurisdiction could be taken over Oregon in a case involving a trespasser on a bridge between Washington and Oregon, considerations of comity allowed Washington to decline jurisdiction. The Court noted that the United States Constitution allows, but does not require, such a refusal of jurisdiction. *See Nevada v. Hall*, 440 U.S. 410, 426, 59 L. Ed. 2d 416, 428, 99 S. Ct. 1182, reh'g denied, 441 U.S. 917 (1979). States are free to presume a greater degree of comity, friendship and kindness towards one another. Comity may be applicable in

situations where assumption of jurisdiction would impinge unnecessarily upon the harmonious interstate relations that are part and parcel of the spirit of co-operative federalism. *Id*.

Washington and Idaho have codified the intent of both states to cooperate in the enforcement of traffic and criminal laws by enacting laws allowing for mutual cooperation and enforcement. *See* RCW 10.93 *et seq*. (Washington Mutual Aid and Peace Officers Powers Act), and Idaho Code § 67-23289 (Joint Exercise of Powers) and § 19-70110 *et seq*. (Fresh Pursuit Act). Imposing Washington jurisdiction on an Idaho state employee does not foster the cooperative endeavors between Washington and Idaho evidenced by the laws of both states and jurisdiction should be declined in this action.

VIII. CONCLUSION

The law does not permit Pruczinski to redact inconvenient facts to establish reasonableness for the imposition of Washington jurisdiction over Ashby and, in actuality, the Idaho State Patrol through him. Likewise, it is not permissible for Pruczinski to establish personal jurisdiction over Ashby solely by alleging the traffic stop occurred in Washington.

Exhibit No. 3 - Idaho Code § 67-2328.

Exhibit No. 4 - Idaho Code § 19-701.

Plaintiffs, both of whom are Idaho residents, purposefully disguised their complaint against an Idaho State employee to avoid the jurisdiction of the Idaho courts. Notwithstanding Plaintiffs' characterizations of the contact between Ms. Pruczinski and Trooper Ashby, this case involves a claim that an Idaho State Police trooper acted improperly while in the course and scope of his employment. Such a claim is within the exclusive jurisdiction of the Idaho courts. Simply put, the Washington courts do not have either subject matter or personal jurisdiction over Trooper Ashby. The lack of either subject matter or personal jurisdiction is sufficient to dismiss this claim. Contrary to Pruczinski's argument, he jurisdictional question cannot be limited to solely the location of the contact. Whether the actual traffic stop was in Washington, Idaho or both states, is not determinative of jurisdiction as a matter of law. Finally, the principles of comity afford this Court the opportunity to decline jurisdiction, particularly where Plaintiffs as Idaho residents had protections available to them under Idaho law.